
Standards Committee

Date: Thursday, 8th March, 2018
Time: 6.15 pm
Venue: Kaposvar Room - Guildhall, Bath

To: All Members of the Standards Committee 

Independent Members: Susan Toland (Chair), Deborah Russell and Dr 
Cyril Davies

Parish/Town Councillors: Keith Betton, Tony Crouch and Veronica 
Packham

Bath and North East Somerset Councillors: Councillor Sally Davis, 
Councillor Sarah Bevan, Councillor Nigel Roberts, Councillor Geoff Ward 
and Councillor Brian Simmons

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers

Press and Public

Enfys Hughes
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG 
Telephone: 01225 394410
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk 
E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk



1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows:

Council’s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1

Paper copies are available for inspection at the Public Access points:- Reception: Civic 
Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies - Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and 
Midsomer Norton public libraries.

2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by 
contacting as above. 

3. Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and recording 
by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is to be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please 
make yourself known to the camera operators. 

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or guardians 
before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to the camera 
operator.

The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its 
social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

4. Public Speaking at Meetings

The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings. 
They may make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do. They may also 
present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a group. They may also ask a question to which a 
written answer will be given. Advance notice is required not less than two full working days 
before the meeting. This means that for meetings held on Thursdays notice must be 
received in Democratic Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday. Further details of the 
scheme:

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942

5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated 
exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are signposted. 
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.

6. Supplementary information for meetings

Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505


Standards Committee - Thursday, 8th March, 2018

at 6.15 pm in the Kaposvar Room - Guildhall, Bath

A G E N D A

1.  WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

2.  EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out on the 
Agenda.

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTION 

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate:

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare.

(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

5.  TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 

The Chair will announce any items of urgent business accepted since the agenda was 
prepared under the Access to Information provisions.

6.  ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS (COMPLAINTS MUST GO THROUGH THE 
STANDARDS COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE) 

7.  ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED AND ADDED MEMBERS 
RELATING TO THE GENERAL BUSINESS OF THE COMMITTEE 



8.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF 18TH JANUARY 2018 - PUBLIC AND EXEMPT 
(Pages 7 - 14)

If members wish to discuss the exempt minutes they will have to consider passing the 
following resolution:-

“that having been satisfied that the public interest would be better served by not 
disclosing relevant information, in accordance with the provisions of Section 100(A)(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item(s) of business and the reporting of the meeting be prevented under 
Section 100A(5A) because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended.”

9.  REPORT ON THE ASSESSMENT OF COMPLAINTS (Pages 15 - 18)

10.  WORKPLAN FOR THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE (Pages 19 - 20)

11.  CHAIRMAN'S CIVIC HANDBOOK (Pages 21 - 22)

The Chairman’s Civic Handbook will be circulated in due course.

12.  PROTOCOL BETWEEN BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL AND 
AVON AND SOMERSET CONSTABULARY (Pages 23 - 28)

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Enfys Hughes who can be contacted on 
01225 394410.



1

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THURSDAY, 18TH JANUARY, 2018

PRESENT:-

Independent Members: Susan Toland (Chair), Dr Cyril Davies

Parish Representatives: Tony Crouch and Veronica Packham

Bath and North East Somerset Councillors: Sally Davis, Sarah Bevan, Nigel Roberts, 
Geoff Ward and Brian Simmons

Officers: Maria Lucas (Monitoring Officer), Simon Barnes (Investigating Officer), Jo 
Morrison (Democratic Services Manager)

Independent Person: Tony Drew

57   WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.

58   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

The Chair drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out on the 
agenda.

59   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTION 

Apologies were received from Deborah Russell and Keith Betton.

60   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest made.

61   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 

There were no items of urgent business.

62   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS (COMPLAINTS MUST GO THROUGH THE 
STANDARDS COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE) 

There were none.

63   ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED AND ADDED MEMBERS 
RELATING TO THE GENERAL BUSINESS OF THE COMMITTEE 

There were none.

Page 5

Agenda Item 8



2

64   MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF 21ST SEPTEMBER 2017 

These were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

65   REPORT ON THE ASSESSMENT OF COMPLAINTS 

The Committee considered the Monitoring Officer’s report.   The Monitoring Officer 
updated the Committee on the latest position and responded to a couple of queries 
from Members.

It was then RESOLVED to note the report on the assessment of complaints.

66   WORKPLAN FOR THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the workplan.  The Committee noted the 
amendment needed to the November 2018 date*, and the addition of the Annual 
report on LGO complaints for September 2018.

It was then RESOLVED to note the report.

[*Following the Committee, the date was checked and confirmed to be 22nd November 2018.]

67   COMMISSION FOR LOCAL ADMINISTRATION IN ENGLAND (LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT & SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN) ANNUAL REPORT & UPDATE 
ON DETERMINATIONS 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the LGO Annual report and annual review letter.  
She explained the slight difference in figures arising from cases being carried over 
from the previous year.  She commented that although there were no obvious trends 
or areas of particular concern, the Council was taking steps to increase the number 
of local resolutions. She suggested that, next year, the Committee should consider 
as well the total number of complaints received by the Council, most of which were 
resolved successfully.  She concluded by reassuring the Committee that all of the 
actions agreed to be done by the Council with the LGO had been carried out.

It was then RESOLVED to note the Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review 
and the determinations made by the Ombudsman.

68   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

The Committee RESOLVED that having been satisfied that the public interest would 
be better served by not disclosing relevant information, in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business and the reporting of the 
meeting be prevented under Section 100A(5A) because of the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Act, as amended.

69   HEARING OF COMPLAINT 9.17 BANES 

Following careful consideration of all the facts in the Investigating Officer’s report, 
and the representations from relevant parties made at the meeting, the Committee

Page 6



3

RESOLVED that there had been a breach of the previous and the current Bath & 
North East Somerset Codes of Conduct on 2 counts, as set out below;

1. Councillor Pritchard did not disclose to the Development Management 
Committee (“DMC”) when he made representations to it in 2011, that he had a 
prejudicial interest in the planning application under consideration; namely, 
that he owned the property which was the subject of the planning application;

2. Between 30 April 2010 and 25 May 2015, Councillor Pritchard failed to list his 
ownership of the property on his Register of Member’s Interests.

The Committee then decided on an appropriate sanction and, following careful 
consideration, further

RESOLVED that Councillor Pritchard be required to make an apology to full Council 
at the next appropriate meeting.

In bringing the meeting to a close, the Chair thanked the Investigating Officer, Simon 
Barnes, for his clear report, and the Committee for their careful consideration.

The meeting ended at 7.35 pm

Chair(person)

Date Confirmed and Signed

Prepared by Democratic Services

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING Standards’ Committee
EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE:

MEETING 8th March 2018

TITLE: Report on Assessment of Complaints

WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Annex 1 – Report on assessment of complaints

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 The Committee is asked to consider Annex 1 (report on assessment of 
complaints) and discuss any issues arising.

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee consider the report and make any recommendations 
required.

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

3.1 None.

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

4.1 The Council is required to have in place adequate arrangements to assess 
complaints and deal with any further actions required.

5 THE REPORT

5.1 An up-dated table providing information on the complaints received since the 
last report was sent to the Standards Committee in January 2018 is attached 
as Appendix 1 for the consideration of the Committee.

Page 13

Agenda Item 9



Printed on recycled paper

6 RATIONALE

6.1 To update the Standards’ Committee on complaints received since January 
2018.

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 None.

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 Not applicable.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT

9.1 A risk assessment is not required.

Contact person Maria Lucas, Head of Legal & Democratic Services, Monitoring 
Officer & Council Solicitor (01225) 395171

Background 
papers

None

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format

Page 14



Standards Committee - Assessment of Complaints March 2017
Appendix 1

Complaint Number

Date 

Received Complainant Subject Relevant provision of Code Assessment

Date / 

Decision Decision Current Position

04-15 Dunkerton PC 18.05.15 P Cllr P Cllr

Bullying/Intimidation. Improperly conferring a 

disadvantage

Initial assessment by MO and IP - 

investigation

Standards 

Hearing 

10.12.15 No breach Complete

05a-15 Dunkerton PC 29.05.15 P Cllr P Cllr

Bullying/Intimidation. Improperly conferring a 

disadvantage. Disrespectful behaviour.

Initial assessment by MO and IP - 

investigation

Standards 

Hearing 

10.12.15 Breach Complete

05b-15 Dunkerton PC 29.05.15 P Cllr P Cllr

Bullying/Intimidation. Improperly conferring a 

disadvantage. Disrespectful behaviour.

Initial assessment by MO and IP - 

investigation

Standards 

Hearing 

10.12.15 No breach Complete

05c-15 Dunkerton PC 31.07.15 P Cllr P Cllr

Bullying/Intimidation.  Disclosure of confidential 

information. Potential criminal offence.  

Disrespectful behaviour.

Initial assessment by MO and IP - 

investigation

Standards 

Hearing 

10.12.15 No breach Complete

06-15 BANES 17.05.15 MoP Cllr Disrespectful behaviour. Initial assessment by MO and IP 23.09.15 No breach Complete

07-15 BANES 01.06.15 MoP Cllr Disrespectful behaviour. Initial assessment by MO and IP 29.06.15 No breach Complete

08-15 BANES 23.06.15 O Cllr Inappropriate behaviour. Initial assessment by MO and IP 08.07.15

Breach - apology 

made

09-15 Chew Stoke PC 20.07.15 P Cllr / MoP P Cllr Non disclosure of DPI.

Not proportionate for police to allocate 

further resources due to the limited public 

interest.  Independent investigation. 1.3.16 Breach/NFA Complete

10-15 Paulton PC 18.08.15 P Cllr P Cllr Non disclosure of DPI

Referred to police.  Not proportionate for 

police to allocate further resources due to 

the limited public interest.  

Standards 

Hearing 

31.03.16 Breach Complete

11-15 BANES MoP Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 29.09.15 No breach Complete

12-15 BANES 18.10.15 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 18.02.15 No breach Complete

13-15 Shoscombe PC 05.11.15 P Cllrs P Cllr Bullying/Intimidation

Initial assessment that as cllr is no longer 

a councillor, no jurisdiction for complaint 

to be further investigated 20.12.15

No further 

investigation 

required Complete

01-16 BANES 24.12.15 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour

Initial assessment by MO and IP - cllr to 

send apology to Somerset Guardian 11.02.16 No breach Complete

02-16 Hinton Blewett PC 04.01.16 MoP P Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 21.03.16 No further action Complete

03-16 Paulton PC 25.01.16 P Cllrs P Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 21.03.16 No further action Complete

04-16 Paulton PC 25.01.16 P Cllrs P Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 21.03.16 No further action Complete

05-16 Paulton PC 19.01.16 P Cllr P Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 21.03.16 No further action Complete

06-16 Paulton PC 19.01.16 P Cllr P Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 21.03.16 No further action Complete

07-16 BANES 26.01.16 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 25.03.16 No breach Complete

08-16 BANES 26.01.16 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 25.03.16 No breach Complete

09-16 Paulton PC 02.02.16 P Cllr P Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 21.03.16 No further action Complete

10-16 BANES 25.02.16 MoP Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 25.03.16 No breach Complete

11-16 a,b,c High Littleton 

PC/BANES 25.08.16 MoP P Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 17.10.16 No further action Complete

12-16 a,b BANES 05.09.16 MoP Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 24.10.16 Breach/NFA Complete

13-16 BANES 01.09.16 Cllr Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 24.10.16 Breach/NFA Complete

14-16 BANES 26.08.16 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 24.10.16 No further action Complete

15-16 BANES 07.12.16 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 7.2.17 No further action Complete

KEY

P Cllr - Parish Councillor. MoP - Member of the Public. Cllr - BANES Councillor

O - Officer

P
age 15



Standards Committee - Assessment of Complaints March 2017
Appendix 1

1.17 Chew Stoke PC 5.1.17 MoP P Cllr Bullying Initial assessment by MO and IP 1.3.17 No further action Complete

2.17 BANES 1.3.17 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP 2.5.17 Breach / NFA Complete

3.17 BANES 12.04.17 MoP Cllr Disrepute Initial assessment by MO and IP 16.06.17 No Breach Complete

04-17 BANES 08.05.17 MoP Cllr

breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct on pre-

election publicity Initial assessment by MO and IP 31.05.17 No further action Complete

05-17 BANES 01.07.17 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour - bullying Initial assessment by MO and IP 30.11.17 No breach Complete

06-17 BANES 01.07.17 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour - bullying Initial assessment by MO and IP 06.09.17 No breach Complete

07-17 BANES 20.09.17 MoP Cllr Inappropriate behaviour - bullying Initial assessment by MO and IP 30.11.17

No breach - further 

action Complete

08-17 BANES 22.09.17 MoP Cllr

Inappropriate behaviour/non-disclosure of 

interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 30.11.17

No breach - further 

action

09-17 BANES 09.10.17 CX Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 

Standards Committee on 

18.01.17

10-17 BANES 06.10.17 MoP Cllr

Inappropriate behaviour - misuse of council 

resources Initial assessment by MO and IP 08.12.17 No breach Complete

11-17 BANES 16.10.17 MoP Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 26.02.18 No breach Complete

12-17 BANES 13.12.17 MoP Cllrs Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP 26.02.18 No breach Complete

13-17 SSPC 10.11.17 MoP P Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP Ongoing

01-18 HBPC 07.02.18 MoP P Cllr Non disclosure of interest Initial assessment by MO and IP Ongoing

02-18 HBPC 26.02.18 MoP P Cllr Inappropriate behaviour Initial assessment by MO and IP Ongoing

KEY

P Cllr - Parish Councillor. MoP - Member of the Public. Cllr - BANES Councillor

O - Officer

P
age 16



Bath and North East Somerset – 
The place to live, work and visit

STANDARDS COMMITTEE WORKPLAN 2018 – 2019

Date of meeting Title Report 
author/responsible 

officer

Thursday 18th 
January 2018 
(substantive)

(Previously 25th January changed due to ALCA 
meeting)

Annual Local Government Ombudsman report

Complaint hearing

Training session

Maria Lucas

Thursday 8th 
March 2018 
(provisional)

Chairman’s Civic Handbook

Protocol for working with the Avon and Somerset 
Police where there is non-disclosure of 

discloseable interests

Maria/Jo

Maria

Thursday 17th 
May 2018 

(substantive)

Annual report of the Standards Committee Maria Lucas

Thursday 19th 
July 2018 

(provisional)

Page 17

Agenda Item 10



Annual review letter 2016/2017 Maria Lucas

Thursday 20th 
September 2018 

(substantive)

Annual Report on Local Government Ombudsman 
complaints 

Maria Lucas

Thursday 22nd 
November 2018 

(provisional)

Thursday 24th 
January 2019 
(substantive)

Thursday 21st 
March 

2019(provisional)

Every meeting – Report on the assessment of complaints

Workplan

Page 18



Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING Standards’ Committee
EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE:

MEETING
8th March 2018

TITLE: Chairman’s Civic Handbook

WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Appendix 1 – Chairman’s Civic Handbook

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 The Committee is asked to consider the Chairman’s Civic Handbook 
(Appendix 1) and recommend it to Council.

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee recommends the Chairman’s Handbook to Council.

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

3.1 None.

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

4.1 To provide the Standards Committee with the opportunity to comment on the 
proposed Civic Chairman’s Handbook.

5 THE REPORT

5.1 The Chairman’s Civic Handbook for Bath & North East Somerset Council 
provides a comprehensive overview of the Chairman’s role and 
demonstrates the huge importance that the Council places on the civic 
traditions of the Chairman. The Handbook covers the following key areas:

Page 19

Agenda Item 11



Printed on recycled paper

 Roles and Responsibilities 
 Precedence 
 Engagements and Events
 Clothing and Civic Insignia 
 Chairman’s Parlour
 Executive Support Office 
 Civic Car 
 Speeches 
 Charity Work 
 Acceptance and Giving of Gifts 
 Allowances and Budgets
 Complaints

The Handbook does not cover the political / constitutional role of the Chairman with 
regard to chairing Council meetings, which is covered in separate briefings and 
documentation provided by Democratic Services.

6 RATIONALE

6.1 To obtain the approval of the Standards’ Committee on the new Chairman’s 
Civic Handbook.

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 None.

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 Not applicable.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT

A risk assessment is not required.  

Contact person Maria Lucas, Head of Legal & Democratic Services, Monitoring 
Officer & Council Solicitor (01225) 395171

Background 
papers

None.

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format

Page 20



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 -Civic Handbook  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March 2018 

 
 

Page 21



 

Page 2 of 24 
 

WELCOME 

 

Congratulations on your election as Chairman of the Council for Bath & North East 

Somerset and our community’s First Citizen.  

 

I am pleased to introduce the Chairman’s Civic Handbook. This has been produced to 

provide you with guidance in your new role, giving valuable information and advice on 

the position, and an insight into what you can expect . It is intended to be a working 

document which can be updated – if you feel there is additional information which could 

usefully be included for the Chairmen that come after you, please let me know.  

 

I want your year of off ice to be enjoyable and will do everything possible to support you 

in your role as one of the Authority’s high-profile ambassadors. The Chairman can be a 

major influence in promoting the image and importance of Bath and North East 

Somerset in a regional and national context, and can also help in the promotion of the 

Council’s objectives in the local community.  

 

 

Ashley Ayre 

Chief Executive 

Bath & North East Somerset Council  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



 

Page 3 of 24 
 

Contents 

 

Important Contact Details ……………………………………………………………………… 4 4 
  
1. Introduction ………………………………………………………………………………… 5 
  
2. Role and Responsibilities …………………………………………………………..…… 5 
  

3. Precedence ………………………………………………………………………………… 7 
  
4. Engagements and Events …………………………………………………………….…. 7 
  

5. Clothing and Civic Insignia ………………………………………………..……………. 9 
  
6. Chairman’s Room ………………..……………………………………………………….. 10 

  
7. Executive Support Office ……………………………………………………..…………. 10 
  

8. Civic Car ……………………………………………………………………………………. 11 
  
9. Training (including Speeches) ………………………………………………………….. 13 
  
10.  Charity Work ………………………………………………………………………………. 14 

  
11. Acceptance and Giving of Gifts ………………………………………………..………. 16 
  
12. Allowances and Budgets ……………………………………………………………..…. 17 
  

13. Complaints …………………………………………………………………………………. 18 

  

Appendices ……………………………………………………………………………………….. 

- Appendix A: When to Wear the Civic Insignia 

- Appendix B: Civic Insignia - Safe Custody Guidelines 

- Appendix C: Chauffeuring Staff Code of Practice 

- Appendix D: Customer Satisfaction Form 

- Appendix E: History of the Civic Building 

19 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

Page 4 of 24 
 

Important Contact Details 

 

Chairman of the Council’s Office: 

Guildhall  

High Street  

Bath 

BA1 5AW 

 

Email: chairs_office@bathnes.gov.uk 

 

Homepage on Council Website: http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-

democracy/chairman-council 

 

Executive Support Staff: 

Name Telephone Email 

Annette Beilby 

Executive Support Team Leader 
01225 477400 annette_beilby@bathnes.gov.uk 

Jo Hobbs 
Executive Support Team Leader 

01225 477400 jo_hobbs@bathnes.gov.uk 

Benice Hampton 
Executive Support Assistant 

01225 394235 benice_hampton@bathnes.gov.uk 

 

Day-to-day operational support will be provided by the Executive Support Office. Please see Section 

6 of the Handbook for further information about the type of support provided by this Office. 

 

Key Council Contacts:  

Name Telephone Email 

Ashley Ayre 

Chief Executive 
01225 477400 ashley_ayre@bathnes.gov.uk 

Maria Lucas 
Head of Legal & Democratic Services 
(and Monitoring Officer) 

01225 395171 maria_lucas@bathnes.gov.uk 

Jo Morrison 

Democratic Services Manager 
01225 394358 jo_morrison@bathnes.gov.uk 

Steve Harman 
Corporate Business Manager 

07530 263207 steve_harman@bathnes.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24

mailto:chairs_office@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/chairman-council
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/chairman-council
mailto:annette_beilby@bathnes.gov.uk
mailto:jo_hobbs@bathnes.gov.uk
mailto:benice_hampton@bathnes.gov.uk
mailto:ashley_ayre@bathnes.gov.uk
mailto:maria_lucas@bathnes.gov.uk
mailto:jo_morrison@bathnes.gov.uk
mailto:steve_harman@bathnes.gov.uk


 

Page 5 of 24 
 

1. Introduction 

 

The Chairman’s Civic Handbook for Bath & North East Somerset Council provides a comprehensive 

overview of the Chairman’s role and demonstrates the huge importance that the Council places on the 

civic traditions of the Chairman. The Handbook covers the following key areas: 

 

 Roles and Responsibilities  

 Precedence  

 Engagements and Events 

 Clothing and Civic Insignia  

 Chairman’s Room 

 Executive Support Office  

 Civic Car  

 Speeches  

 Charity Work  

 Acceptance and Giving of Gifts  

 Allowances and Budgets 

 Complaints 

 

The Handbook does not cover the political / constitutional role of the Chairman with regard to chairing 

Council meetings, which is covered in separate briefings and documentation provided by Democratic 

Services. 

 

2. Roles and Responsibilities 

 

The Council and City of Bath have two civic dignitaries, the Chairman of the Council and the Mayor 

of Bath. The latter is managed by the Charter Trustees and is a completely separate role to that of 

the Chairman of the Council. For details about the Mayor of Bath, please see the Mayor’s website - 

Mayor of Bath.   

 

Appointment of the Chairman 

  

 The Chairman is the Civic Head of the Council. He / she is elected in May of each year at the 

Annual Meeting of the Council.  

 

 The Chairman must be a serving Councillor. 

 

 During the Annual Meeting of Council the Chairman may appoint a Consort for their term of 

office. 

 

 The Vice Chairman of the Council is also appointed at the Annual Meeting and will represent the 

Chairman at meetings and events in his / her absence. 

Page 25

http://www.mayorofbath.co.uk/


 

Page 6 of 24 
 

The Role of the Chairman 

  

The Chairman of the Council is largely a ceremonial role; it does not carry any extra political power or 

influence, and the Chairman must remain politically impartial during their year of office. The Chairman 

has the following responsibilities: 

 

 To preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently and 

with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the community.  

 

 To have the casting vote at Full Council meetings at which he / she is chairing if required. 

 

 To be the conscience of the Council and uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution 

when necessary. 

 

 To attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and he / she determines 

appropriate, e.g. royal visits, charitable events, supporting local cultural activities. Whilst 

representing the Authority, the Chairman wears a Chain of Office (see Section 3 - Precedence). 

 

 To represent the Council at a large number of functions organised by firms, churches, clubs, 

schools and many other organisations throughout the Authority, as well as events organised by 

Council Departments such as the opening of new community homes and schools. 

 

 To promote public involvement in the Council’s activities. 

 

 The Chairman can nominate a charity of their choice and host fund raising events throughout 

their term of office. 

 

 The Chairman acts as First Citizen for the Authority, fostering community identity and pride by 

actively promoting local areas and raising the profile of Bath and North East Somerset and the 

Council. 

 

 The Chairman usually appoints a Consort, who is generally their spouse or partner. The Consort 

is an unelected person who will normally accompany the Chairman to official engagements. He / 

she should be chosen to ensure they can appropriately represent the Council and the standards 

of behaviour expected of a Councillor. On no occasion should they attend a function on behalf 

of the Chairman - if the need arises, the Vice Chairman would normally attend.   

 

 The Chairman will follow the Council’s established IT protocols, especially around diary 

management to ensure the Chairman’s calendar remains accurate and up-to-date.  

 

 

 

Page 26



 

Page 7 of 24 
 

Ceremony to Appoint a New Chairman 

 

A ceremony is performed at the Annual Meeting, when the Chain of Office is removed from the out-

going Chairman and placed around the neck of the new Chairman by the Chief Executive. The new 

Chairman is proposed by a member of his / her own party and is often seconded by a member of the 

opposition.  

 

End of Term of Office 

 

The Chairman holds the Office of Chairman for one year before returning to their position as a 

backbench Member (unless elected to a Chairman / Vice Chairman position of a Committee or Panel).  

 

3. Precedence 

 

“Section 3(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 specifically provides “The Chairman of a 

District Council shall have precedence in the District but not so as prejudicially to affect Her 

Majesty’s royal prerogative”.  

 

What this means is that by statute, provided a Member of the Royal Family is not in the Authority nor 

attended by their representative, the Lord Lieutenant, Deputy Lieutenant or High Sheriff in their official 

capacity, the Chairman shall have precedence. 

 

In other situations, what passes for ‘precedence’ tends to be custom and practice, and varies 

significantly around the country. The agreed precedence states, “Inevitably, senior and prominent 

Members of County, District and Parish (or Town) Councils find themselves on a regular basis 

involved in civic, social, and ceremonial events and clear agreed and settled rules of protocol will do 

much to minimise unnecessary misunderstanding which may arise from time to time”.  

 

The Chairman should expect to attend all official formal functions, such as a naming or opening, which 

have been funded by the Council. If any Cabinet Member or the Leader also wishes to attend an 

event, this will be discussed with the Chairman and Chief Executive.  

 

4. Engagements and Events 

 

There are a number of events that the Chairman must attend during their year in office. These include 

Citizenship Ceremonies, the Annual Civic Reception, Armed Forces Day and Community Awards. 

 

There will also be invitations to a large number of optional events and the Chairman is asked to give 

careful consideration to which of these events that he / she attends. Please read the rules of civic 

engagements below, especially the third bullet point, which should help in deciding whether to accept 

an engagement. 

 

Page 27



 

Page 8 of 24 
 

Key Rules of Civic Engagements 
 

 Every invitation should be routed via the Executive Support Office - it cannot be stressed 

too strongly how essential it is that all who seek the Chairman’s presence at their events be 

referred to the Executive Support Office. 
 

 Don’t cancel except in an emergency - once an invitation has been properly accepted, it 

should not be cancelled unless there is an extreme emergency. All engagements are important, 

no matter how small. Organisers often put in a lot of effort to make their events successful and 

your role in promoting their activity is vital; it is not acceptable to ‘change your mind’ if another 

invitation is more to your liking. 
 

 Is it an ‘appropriate engagement’? - the Chairman is asked to consider carefully each 

invitation they receive with a view to recognising the “value” of each event to the Council and to 

the local community.  
 

Local events and engagements always take precedence over engagements outside of the 

Authority’s boundary. A performance indicator is recorded by the Executive Support Office to 

measure the percentage of engagements that are held within and outside the Authority’s 

boundary. Ideally, at least 90% of engagements will be held within the Authority on the basis 

that it is local people who are funding the Chairman’s office. 
 

In addition, a measure of effectiveness of the Chairman in undertaking quality engagements has 

been introduced and will also be maintained by the Executive Support Office. Each event 

attended by the Chairman is scored depending on the type of activity. The scores are set 

nationally by the National Association of Civic Officers and fall into six categories: 

 

Engagement Category Score Examples of Activity 

Promoting  5 Council initiatives, business opportunities 

Community  5 Attending local events with local people 

Civic Hosting  3 Offering hospitality to community groups 

Council / Statutory / Traditional  3 
Council meetings, Citizenship Ceremonies, 

Remembrance Sunday 

Charities  2 Charity appeals and fundraising events 

Civic Circuit 1 Visiting other Civic Heads’ events 

 

These categories also assist in determining which events the Chairman attends when he / she 

receives more than one invitation for the same day. 

 

Page 28



 

Page 9 of 24 
 

 Was it any good? - the Council sends out a Customer Satisfaction Survey Form after each 

civic engagement, i.e., how well did the Executive Support Office deal with the invitation; how 

useful was the civic engagement pro forma; did the Chairman arrive on time; how well was the 

speech delivered etc. A blank Customer Satisfaction Survey Form can be found in Appendix D.  

 

5. Clothing and Civic Insignia 

 

Clothing 

 

The Executive Support Office will offer advice for each civic engagement if it is not clear from the 

invitation however the following is suggested as a clothing guide.  

 

Male: Coventional dress is recommended such as a black, dark grey or navy lounge suit for daytime 

events. Dinner jackets are usually worn for important dinners. A good quality dark overcoat and / or 

raincoat for inclement weather is advisable.  

 

Female: The general advice is to be smart rather than casual, for instance, a dressy suit or jacket and 

dress. For evening wear, a cocktail dress is advisable although long dresses are occasionally worn. It 

is traditional for ladies to wear a hat for church services however this is personal choice. The 

Executive Support Office can advise on the appropriate clothing for an event.  

 

The Chains of Office (see below) are heavy and have “claws” to correctly position them on your 

clothing. It’s advisable to have some fabric “loops” sewn into any jackets that you may wear on a 

regular basis to avoid damage to your clothing.  

 

Civic Insignia 

 

The civic insignia for the Office of Chairman consists of the Chains of Office. The general rules 

for wearing the civic insignia are set out below. 

 

The Chains are a symbol of the Chairman’s Office and are worn by the Chairman (and Vice 

Chairman) when on official business: 

  

 At all meetings of Bath & North East Somerset Council 

 At other meetings over which he / she may be asked to preside as the Chairman of Bath & 

North East Somerset Council 

 When hosting social occasions within the Authority 

 When attending formal civic functions within the Authority 

 When representing the Council at any formal occasion within the Authority 

 At any other occasions when it is appropriate that he / she should so do in the interests of the 

status and dignity of the office of Chairman of Bath & North East Somerset Council. 

 

Page 29



 

Page 10 of 24 
 

In attending events, ceremonies and services, the Executive Support Office should take into 

consideration diversity, and the customs, traditions and religious representation of others, and advise 

the Chairman as to the appropriate usage. The Chairman should not wear the Chain of Office outside 

the Authority’s boundary without the express permission of the Council being visited. 

 

It is not appropriate to wear any floral decorations, other than a poppy, whilst wearing the Chains of 

Office. The Chairman may on occasions be offered a buttonhole, lapel badge or ribbon whilst 

attending a function. It may be acceptable to wear it until the end of that engagement and remove it 

before attending the next one. 

 

Appendix A sets out the functions where it is appropriate to where the Chains of Office. If there are 

any doubts, the Executive Support Office will clarify the matter. 

 

Safe Custody Guidelines  

 

Remember that the Chains of Office should at all times be kept in its case and treated with care, not 

only when being worn but giving thought to where it’s worn. 

 

The Chains of Office are of great value and are irreplaceable. The Council has agreed a set of 

guidelines for the custody and safekeeping of the Civic Regalia. These can be found in Appendix B. 

You should read these carefully and adhere to them. If you have any doubts, please contact the 

Executive Support Office.  

 

6. Chairman’s Room 

 

The Chairman’s private room is primarily reserved for the exclusive personal use of the Chairman as 

Chair. It is also used for receptions and official engagements, and there may be occasions when the 

room is used for other appropriate Council business.   

 

7. Executive Support Office  

 

Operational support on a day-to-day basis is provided by the Executive Support Office, which also 

provides support to the Chief Executive, Strategic Directors, the Leader of the Council, Cabinet 

Members and Councillors. Details of the specific support provided by this Office are: 

 

 Provide day to day secretarial and administrative support  

 Deal with correspondence and draft letters for the Chairman's signature  

 Manage the Chairman's civic diary  

 Organising all necessary arrangements for attendance at civic functions  

 Arrange occasional events  

 Receive and follow up invitations  

 Provide appropriate stationery  

Page 30



 

Page 11 of 24 
 

 Provide information on the Chairman's allowances and how they may be used  

 Provide support for the Chairman's charity appeal (if required)  

 Advise on civic dress and protocols  

 Assist with speeches by liaising with others to obtain information   

 Arrange briefings  

 Provide and receive background information on events  

 Update the website in respect of matters relating to the Chairman 

 Liaise with local press  

 Take into account the Chairman's well-being, safety and security  

 Maintain and purchase civic regalia  

 Arrange briefings for Full Council in consultation with the Democratic Services Manager 

 Ensure there is regular liaison with the Chief Executive and Senior Management Team to 

ensure the Chairman is aware of matters pertaining to the Council which may impact on how he 

/ she carry out their duties  

 Briefings will also be arranged with other officers on matters of interest or on issues that arise 

relevant to the Chairman’s duties 

 Provide any other support or guidance that is necessary and appropriate.  

 

Familiarity  

 

Due to the nature of the engagements and the time that the Chairman and Vice Chairman spend in 

the company of employees, especially the support staff, it can be difficult to avoid familiarity. On all 

occasions staff will refer to them and their partner / consort by their titles, i.e., Mr or Mrs Chairman, 

unless advised differently by the Chairman as to their preference.  

 

Also, it is essential that any discussion about managerial issues is not entered into with the Executive 

Support Office staff themselves, as this function is the responsibility of the Corporate Business 

Manager and in his absence, the Executive Support Team Leader. 

 

8. Civic Car 

 

The Office of Chairman has access to a Civic Car for official functions only. It is very important 

that the car is used properly at all times, and its usage can be justified to the public. 

 

Attendance at a Council or Committee meeting will not be classed as an official function, so it 

is not appropriate to use the Civic Car for travel to and from these meetings. 

 

Scheduling the Civic Car 

 

It is the responsibility of the Executive Support Office to schedule the use of the car. The Council 

leases a car that is shared by both the Mayor and the Chairman’s Office for selected civic and high 

profile events. There is one dedicated Chauffeur and if there is a clash of events between the two 

Page 31



 

Page 12 of 24 
 

Offices, it is in the Chauffeur’s contract to provide a second chauffeur and car for use by the 

Chairman, and recharge the Office of the Chairman for this service. This arrangement has proved 

very cost effective and has resulted in efficiency savings for the Council.  

 

The Chairman, guided by the Executive Support Office, agrees in advance those events that require 

the use of a car. There is a limited budget for this (see Section 12) which must not be exceeded 

without prior discussion with the Corporate Business Manager. The means of transport should reflect 

the degree of formality / informality of the event. It may be more appropriate if it is a low key affair to 

use your own car, the cost of which is met from your allowance.  

 

Events where a car might be used include: 

 

 Functions outide of the Authority’s boundary 

 Other authority civic functions 

 Functions more than a certain number of miles / amount of time from the Chairman’s home 

 Functions where it is known that the organiser can provide no parking 

 Functions where there is an expectation that the Chairman will have official transport.  

 

Using the Civic Car 

 

For insurance reasons, it is not possible to offer lifts in the civic car. Any passengers are limited to 

official guests of the function that the Chairman is attending. This is a policy requirement that the 

chauffeur must follow and the Chairman is asked not to place them in an awkward position by offering 

a lift to non-official guests. It is also a policy requirement that seat belts are worn at all times, and 

smoking is not allowed. 

 

Civic cars are not available for private use, (i.e. shopping or visits to relatives), or for activities 

associated with being an elected Councillor. Should the role of Chairman and Councillor occur on the 

same day, every effort will be made to reduce any inconvenience if possible. It is essential, if the non-

political role of the Chairman is to be preserved and public cynicism to be minimised, that there is a 

rigid and understood rule between a Member’s role as a Councillor and that as a Civic.  

 

The Chairman will be expected to make other arrangements for attending non-official functions. If a 

chauffeur is asked by the Chairman to take him / her to a destination that is not shown on the Civic 

Engagement sheets, and the chauffeur has not received notification of this further engagement from 

the Executive Support Office, then the chauffeur must inform the Chairman that neither they nor the 

car will be covered by insurance. The chauffeur must then contact the Executive Support Team 

Leader to gain approval.  

 

 

 

 

Page 32



 

Page 13 of 24 
 

Chauffeur  

 

Many Chairmen are unaccustomed to using a chauffeur in their daily lives. The chauffeur is 

responsible for transporting the Chairman in the civic car for his / her official duties and is bound by a 

code of practice. This is set out in Appendix C.  

 

Chauffeuring staff should always be aware of the whereabouts of the Chairman at functions, 

particularly towards the end, when the chauffeur should know when he / she wishes to leave. They 

should remain fairly close at hand during engagements unless they have been told to return at a pre-

arranged time.  

 

There are no specific rules about where the Chairman should sit, however it is generally 

recommended that he / she sit behind the passenger seat, as this way they will be able to step 

straight onto the pavement once the door has been opened by the chauffeur.  

 

9. Training (including Speeches) 

 

Training on the role of Chairman is available from Democratic Services. Speech making is an integral 

part of the Chairman’s duties and as a Councillor, the Chairman is usually well versed in the art of 

public speaking. However, if help is required to further improve public speaking skills, this can also be 

provided.   

 

As a high profile ambassador for the Council, it is important that the Chairman makes the best 

impression possible at all public engagements. The Chairman will be asked to say something at most 

of the engagements he / she attends, which can range from proposing a toast to a full speech. The 

Executive Support Office can assist, if requested, in preparing an appropriate standard or specific 

speech, or to arrange typing support for any speeches drafted by the Chairman. It is recommended 

that formal speeches are tested on the Executive Support Office. 

 

Some organisations will send information about what they would like you to say, others will not. This 

information is only there to help prepare a speech. If more background information is needed for a 

particular engagement, the Chairman can ask the Executive Support Office to do more research.  

The Executive Support Office will try to ensure that the Chairman is aware prior to an engagement 

whether he / she will be asked to speak, although this may not always be possible and there will be 

occasions when the Chairman will be asked to say a few words with little or no notice at all.  

 

The Chairman may wish to give some thought to his / her inaugural Speech to the Council on taking 

office. It is usual to announce the charity he / she has chosen to support (see Section 9) and mention 

main themes that they would like to pursue during their term of office. The Chairman often takes this 

opportunity to inform Councillors of how he / she wishes to be addressed when they chair the Council 

meeting, e.g. Madame Chairman, Chair etc.  

 

Page 33



 

Page 14 of 24 
 

Speaking - Key points: 
 

 

Being prepared to Speak…  

 Speeches will come across much better if they are written in your own words 

 Read the speech through, practice it aloud and generally familiarise yourself with it 

 Read all the information provided prior to attending an appointment and make sure you are 

fully prepared to "sing for your supper". If you are told that you are definitely not required to 

speak, ring the alarm bells!  

 It is guaranteed that you will be asked to speak on occasions without notice. To handle 

situations like these, remain calm and follow the pointers below. 
 

 

Making a Speech…  

 Overcome your fears by taking deep breaths in through the nose and out through the mouth 

 Don’t worry about the fear as it needs to be there, always be prepared, be in charge when you 

speak and try to forget the audience - remember people do not see what you feel.  

 Helpful hints to ensure that you are always prepared to speak with little notice, prepare a 

standard short speech that can be used at any function, such as: 

  I thank you for this kind invitation.  

 There has always been a high rapport between your organisation and the Council and 

long may it continue.  

 Thank you 
 

 

When Speaking…  

 Look pleased about having to speak, and remember you are representing the Authority  

 Do not partake in a large quantity of alcohol (keep a clear head)  

 Speak clearly and slowly  

 Be enthusiastic, smile when you speak 

 Look at your audience 
 

 

10. Charity Work 

 

The Chairman is allowed to select a charity to support during their year in office. It is expected 

that the charity is based in the local area, and will already be established and registered with 

the Charity Commission. 

 

Choosing a Charity 

 

The Chairman may wish to adopt a charity to support during their year in office and it has been the 

practice to do so. It must be stressed that such an undertaking is secondary to the key roles and 

responsibilities of the Chairman (as outlined in Section 2). 

 

A really successful charitable year seems to depend on the incoming Chairman choosing their charity 

at an early point, if possible when they are Vice Chairman. When choosing a charity, the incoming 

Page 34



 

Page 15 of 24 
 

Chairman should also bear in mind that practical help is needed for running events of any description, 

as well as promoting and selling tickets. Charities based locally often prove to have more volunteers 

willing to help. 

 

Once a Charity is Chosen 

 

Once a charity is chosen the Executive Support Office will arrange a meeting for representatives of 

the charity and the Chairman in order to explain that he / she is prepared to be a ‘figure head’ for them 

during their Year in Office and will attend, wherever possible, events organised by them to raise 

money and their profile. 

 

The Chairman will then call the inaugural meeting at the start of their Year in Office and work closely 

with the Executive Support Office at all times throughout the year to ensure the Council’s protocols 

are observed with regards to obtaining licences, recording finances etc.  Any funds raised must be 

held by the Council and distributed at the end of the Chairman’s year of office. 

 

Funds and Fundraising 

 

A representative from Accounts will act as Treasurer and bank any funds received, pay bills as 

required and report financial statements.  

 

Throughout the year, any money that is received for the charity is recognised by an official receipt and 

letter from the Chairman to the donor via the Executive Support Office, which also monitors the charity 

account. 

 

All fund raising administrative functions related to the Chairman's charity must be undertaken by the 

appropriate officers of the charity, who will work together with the Executive Support Office.  

 

The Executive Support Office can advise the charity as to the suitability of events, appropriate 

procedures and matters of protocol if required, and will undertake to be the custodian of any funds 

raised.  

 

Events 

 

The Executive Support Office will agree a programme of events for the forthcoming year based on the 

annual work plan and invitations received from organisations. Once an outline programme is agreed, 

the Executive Support Office will book the rooms needed for each proposed event.  

 

All printing of tickets, posters, menus etc. should be shown to the Executive Support Office for 

approval and the Office can advise on using the Council’s own printing services.  

 

Page 35



 

Page 16 of 24 
 

The Executive Support Office must be responsible for ensuring that sufficient people are available to 

run any event including buying the provisions required, making tea or coffee on the day and running 

stalls. They will also need to find sufficient tombola / raffle prizes for events and actively help to sell 

tickets and promote every charity event.  

 

End of Year in Office 

 

At the end of the Year in Office, a cheque will be drawn for the charity supported and presentations 

will be arranged. It is normal for the Chairman to report to Council at the Annual Meeting the results of 

the charity appeal during the year and make a presentation to the charity just prior to the end of the 

term of office.  

 

11. Receiving and Giving of Gifts  

 

The Chairman is personally responsible for all decisions connected with the acceptance or 

offer of gifts or hospitality and for avoiding the risk of damage to public confidence in local 

government.  

 

Receiving 

 

There are no hard or fast rules about the acceptance or refusal of hospitality or tokens of goodwill, 

however, you should treat with extreme caution any offer of gift, favour or hospitality that is made 

directly to you. The person or organisation making the offer may be doing or seeking to do business 

with the Council, or may be applying to the Council for planning permission or some other kind of 

decision.  

 

A good guide is that gifts of more than a nominal value should be accepted on behalf of the Council 

and not retained personally. Under the local scheme relating to the Code of Conduct and Register of 

Gifts and Hospitality, you must declare gifts and hospitality over an estimated value of £50.00 to the 

Authority's Monitoring Officer within 28 days of receipt.  

 

Generally minor tokens of goodwill or flowers can be accepted as personal gifts, however such gifts or 

hospitality may also still need to be declared as “Code of Conduct” interests at meetings.  

 

Advice on gifts and hospitality can be obtained from the Monitoring Officer.  

 

Giving 

 

The Executive Support Office obtains civic gifts as required for the following types of occasion:  

 

 

 

Page 36



 

Page 17 of 24 
 

Gift purpose 
Typical example of a gift which may be given  

(this list is for guidance only) 

Recognise the contribution of 

retired and non-elected 

Councillors who have served for 

a considerable length of time or 

have served as Chairman 

Glass paperweight, crystal glasses, china plate or a crystal 

bowl bearing an inscription such as, “For services to Bath & 

North East Somerset Council”. The type of gift will reflect the 

length of service. For a particularly long-serving Councillor, a 

specific gift with a personal engraving might be appropriate. 

The Chairman will be consulted about the gift to be offered.  

Ambassadors and other visiting 

dignitaries representing a city 

elsewhere  

Bath & North East Somerset Council wooden shield or 

paperweight. 

Gifts taken to the councils 

during official visits  

Clock or other suitable item, engraved with the Bath & North 

East Somerset Council crest.  

Presentations upon an occasion 

such as the wedding of an 

important local dignitary  

Glass paperweight, crystal glasses, china plate or a crystal 

bowl bearing an inscription.  

Small gifts for visitors such as 

volunteer organisations and 

youth organisations 

Badges, pens, pennant, literature etc. 

 

12. Allowances and Budget 

 

Allowances 

 

The 1972 Local Government Act covers the role of Chairman and Section 3 (5) and 5 (4) contain 

provisions for an allowance to be paid to meet the expenses of the Office, which include staff, car 

leasing and hospitality. These payments are intended to be by way of recompense of the expenses for 

maintaining the dignity of the Office.  

 

The allowance is paid in accordance with the Member’s Allowance Scheme and covers the costs 

required for clothing, donations that the Chairman / Vice Chairman may wish to make to various 

charities, raffles, personal hospitality and general expenses incurred. The Chairman must retain 

evidence of expenditure in the event an inspection is carried out by the Inland Revenue.  

 

Budget 

 

There is a separate budget, under the control of the Corporate Business Manager, to meet the cost of 

civic, ceremonial and corporate activities and hospitality. These include costs associated with State 

Visits, Freedom Ceremonies / Marches, annual Civic events and refreshments following Council 

meetings. Details of the budget will be provided to the Chairman and regular monthly budget meetings 

will take place with the Corporate Business Manager and / or Executive Support Team Leader.  

Page 37

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/councillors-and-how-council-works/councillors-allowances


 

Page 18 of 24 
 

13. Complaints 

 

Any complaints about the Chairman’s behaviour that are in breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

should be dealt with using the procedures that are in place for complaints about Councillor behaviour.  

 

Any complaints that do not relate to this, for example, a complaint about the competency of the 

chairing of Council, should in the first instance be sent to the Chairman to be resolved informally. If 

they cannot be resolved at this stage, they should be escalated to the Chief Executive for formal 

consideration. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38



 

Page 19 of 24 
 

Appendix A: When to Wear the Civic Insignia 

 

Functions where the Chain is appropriate: 

 Public functions within Bath & North East Somerset attended by a member of the Royal Family 

 Functions outside Bath & North East Somerset attended by a member of the Royal Family  

 Civic receptions 

 Receiving or entertaining parties of visitors to the Guildhall  

 Civic receptions in other towns (by agreement) 

 Civic wreath laying ceremonies  

 Greeting the High Court Judges 

 Complimentary supper in honour of the Outgoing Chairman 

 Meetings where the Chairman presides or officiates 

 Opening conferences of organisations of a public character 

 Opening exhibitions arranged by organisations of a public character  

 Official University functions and ceremonies including Degree ceremonies  

 School speech days, school prize-giving, open days, sports days and carol services 

 Memorial services 

 Hospital visits 

 Military services 

 Festival of Remembrance  

 Inspections of units and depots of the armed forces 

 Receipt of nominations for elections 

 Functions of returning officer (Parliamentary elections only)  

 Bazaars, carnivals  

 Ordinary Council Meetings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

Page 20 of 24 
 

Appendix B: Civic Insignia - Safe Custody Guidelines 

 

The following guidelines refer to the sfae custody of the Chains of Office. 

 

1. The Council will: 

(i) Maintain insurance cover for all civic regalia under the Corporate ‘All Risks’ Insurance Policy; 

(ii) Be responsible for the maintenance of the regalia including any damage or wear and tear etc 

as set out in the exclusions section 2 to the Corporate all risks policy. 

 

2. The Chairman and Vice Chairman will: 

(i) Ensure the specific conditions of the Council Insurance are followed as outlined in the 

guidance below; and 

(ii) As far as is practical follow the other guidelines as to the safe custody of the regalia. 

 

3. Specific Conditions of the Insurance: 

(i) The regalia must not be left in an unattended vehicle unless all the doors, windows and 

other means of access have been secured and locked and all keys of the vehicle removed to a 

place of safety and the regalia is placed in the boot of the vehicle or is otherwise out of sight.  

 

4. Other practical measures:  

(i) The regalia, unless being worn, should be kept in the case provided by the Council. The 

jewellery roll should only be used when storing the regalia in a home safe or on the way to or 

from a function. 

(ii) If the regalia is not required over a period of two weeks, or during any holiday periods or 

when it is likely that the member will be away from home, it should be returned to Democratic 

Services for safekeeping.  

(iii) The Chairman / Vice Chairman should normally only wear the regalia on arrival at a function. 

In any event the regalia should be kept covered in public areas. They should seek advice from 

the Executive Support Office if this arrangement is not convenient.  

(iv) The regalia should not be left unattended in its case or roll. 

(v) Members should not attempt to clean the regalia other than with a soft cloth. Any damage or 

wear and tear should be reported to the Executive Support Office as soon as possible. 

(vi) Regalia should not be loaned or placed in the custody of any other person other than the 

Executive Support Office. 

(vii) The Chairman and Vice Chairman should inform the Executive Support Office immediately 

if their Chains of Office are lost, mislaid, stolen or otherwise missing in order that the Council’s 

insurers can be informed.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 

Page 21 of 24 
 

Appendix C: Chauffeuring Staff Code of Practice 

 

Chauffeuring staff must comply with the following code of practice: 

 

 Chauffeuring staff are expected to maintain the highest level of confidentiality and discretion and 

are not authorised to divulge discussions overheard.  

 

 Chauffeuring staff must be of neat appearance and smartly dressed in a suit and tie of 

corporate issue. 

 

 Chauffeuring staff must familiarise themselves with routes, locations and destinations prior to 

collection of the Chairman and other council personnel.  

 

 Chauffeuring staff must open and close the doors for all passengers.  

 

 Chauffeuring staff must assist all passengers in and out of the vehicle particularly if they are 

less agile or disabled.  

 

 Chauffeuring staff should act as chaperone for the Chairman as he / she requires at external 

functions.  

 

 Chauffeuring staff are responsible for ensuring that the Chairman is wearing their robes and 

chains of office as appropriate and for the safety of the chains of office.  

 

 The Chains of Office must be stored in the Parlour of the Guildhall at all times except in very 

exceptional circumstances when they may be kept overnight by the Chauffeur at home by 

agreement with the Executive Support Office.  

 

In addition, the code of practice for staff engaged in civic chauffeuring and attendant duties must 

comply with the following requirements for civic car(s):  

 

 kept in an immaculate condition and washed on each day of use 

 

 kept well maintained to a high standard and all damage/defects reported without delay  

 

 display the Council’s flag when available  

 

 carry a first aid kit and fire extinguisher at all times 

 

 carry clean rugs / blankets and umbrellas. 

 

Page 41



 

Page 22 of 24 
 

Appendix D: Customer Satisfaction Survey Form 

 

Please show by ticking the appropriate box, how much you agree with the following statements: 

 

1.  Invitation  

Question 
Strongly 

Agree 
Agree Disagree 

Strongly 

Disagree 

No 

Opinion 

The letter of invitation was responded 

to promptly 
     

Enough guidance and information 

was given to assist with the 

engagement 

     

The Executive Support Office staff 

were courteous with regard to 

enquiries, letters and phone calls 

     

The information received was clear 

and useful 
     

  

2.  Chairman’s Protocol Form  

Question 
Strongly 

Agree 
Agree Disagree 

Strongly 

Disagree 

No 

Opinion 

The Chairman’s Protocol Form was 

helpful with regard to guidance given 
     

The Chairman’s Protocol Form asked 

the correct questions to ensure the 

event went smoothly 

     

The Chairman’s Protocol Form was 

easy to understand 
     

 

3.  Engagement  

Question 
Strongly 

Agree 
Agree Disagree 

Strongly 

Disagree 

No 

Opinion 

The Chairman arrived at the correct 

time 
     

The Chairman carried out the 

required duties 
     

The Chairman’s speech was well 

delivered with the appropriate content 
     

The Executive Support Office staff on 

duty were helpful and polite 
     

Page 42



 

Page 23 of 24 
 

Question 
Strongly 

Agree 
Agree Disagree 

Strongly 

Disagree 

No 

Opinion 

The Chairman did not out stay his / 

her welcome 
     

Having the Chairman in attendance 

met expectations 
     

 

 4.  Overall  

Question 
Strongly 

Agree 
Agree Disagree 

Strongly 

Disagree 

No 

Opinion 

Overall the service given by the 

Executive Support Office was 

satisfactory 

     

We would ask the Chairman to attend 

a future engagement 
     

 

5. Your Comments 

 

Please add any comments or suggestions you may have on improving the Executive Support 

Office’s service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Thank you for taking the trouble to complete this questionnaire. Please be assured that the 

information you have provided will be treated in confidence and used only for the purposes of giving 

staff feedback. It will not be passed to a third party without your written consent. It would be useful to 

know whom the completed survey is from and the date of the engagement so that we can contact you 

if we need to discuss anything further. This will enable us to make any appropriate action from the 

comments made. 

 

Please return the complete questionnaire to: Executive Support Office, Bath & North East 

Somerset Council, The Guildhall, Bath BA1 5AW, or email it to 

benice_hampton@bathnes.gov.uk 

 

Page 43

mailto:benice_hampton@bathnes.gov.uk


 

Page 24 of 24 
 

Appendix E: History of the Civic Building 

 

The Guildhall was originally built as a town hall: it has never served as the meeting place of 

any specific guild. A suggested etymology is from the Anglo Saxon "gild", or "payment"; the 

guildhall being where citizens came to pay their rates. 

 

The Office of the Chairman of the Council is located in the historic Guildhall building in the City of 

Bath. The Guildhall was built between 1775 and 1778 by Thomas Baldwin to designs by Thomas Warr 

Attwood. It has been designated as a Grade I listed building. The current Bath stone building replaced 

a Stuart Guildhall, built in 1625, which itself replaced an earlier Tudor structure. The facade has 4 

Ionic columns and the building is surmounted by the figure of Justice. The central dome was added in 

1893. It forms a continuous building with the Victoria Art Gallery and the covered market. 

 

The interior includes a banqueting hall with engraved Corinthian columns. It contains 18th century 

chandeliers and original royal portraits. The room is used on royal visits to the city including Queen 

Elizabeth II, who had lunch in the banqueting room in May 2002. 

 

The building now houses the Council Chamber and the Register Office, and is used as a wedding 

venue. The Guildhall also serves as one of the venues for the Bath International Music Festival and 

other cultural events, and has been used for filming period dramas. 

Page 44



Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING Standards’ Committee
EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE:

MEETING
8th March 2018

TITLE: Protocol between Bath & North East Somerset Council and Avon and 
Somerset Constabulary

WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Appendix 1 – Draft Protocol between Bath & North East Somerset Council and 
Avon & Somerset Constabulary

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 The Committee is asked to consider and approve the draft Protocol (set out 
in Appendix 1).

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee consider and approve the draft Protocol.

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

3.1 None.

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

4.1 Under section 34 of the Localism Act 2011, any allegations of non-disclosure 
of Discloseable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (as defined in the Relevant 
Authorities (Discloseable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012,.is a 
potential criminal offence and has to be reported to the police.

Page 45

Agenda Item 12



Printed on recycled paper

5 THE REPORT

5.1 The Standards Committee is requested to consider and agree a draft 
Protocol for the reporting of potential criminal offences concerning the 
registration and/or non-disclosure of Discloseable Pecuniary Interests.  No 
Protocol currently exists and the Constabulary has requested that one is 
agreed to assist with this process.  Once the Committee has approved this 
draft Protocol, it will be discussed and agreed with the Constabulary.

6 RATIONALE

6.1 To update the Standards’ Committee on the draft Protocol and obtain 
approval.

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 None.

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 Not applicable.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT

9.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk 
management guidance.

Contact person Maria Lucas, Head of Legal & Democratic Services, Monitoring 
Officer & Council Solicitor (01225) 395171

Background 
papers

None.

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format

Page 46



Printed on recycled paper

Appendix 1

PROTOCOL BETWEEN BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL
AND AVON AND SOMERSET CONSTABULARY

Purpose

To agree a protocol for the reporting of potential criminal offences concerning the 
registration and/or non-disclosure of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI’s) (as 
defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 
2012, and (Section 34 of the Localism Act 2011).

The Process

Introduction

The Councillor Code of Conduct

1. In the event that the Monitoring Officer receives a complaint regarding potential 
DPI offence, they will undertake an initial assessment of the allegation for the 
following matters:

 Are the alleged facts correct?
 Were any dispensations granted?
 Is the Member concerned subject to the Localism Act?

2. Following completion of the above assessment, the Monitoring Officer will:
a. make immediate contact with the Police through the nominated single 

point of contact (“SPOC”) and send all relevant documentation to them 
and 

b. consult the Independent Person.  
No contact will be made with the subject of the complaint to ensure any 
investigation is not prejudiced.

3. Similarly if the Police receive a complaint from a member of the public, they will 
inform the Monitoring Officer of the receipt of that complaint.  See Appendix A for 
named Monitoring Officer contact.

4. The Police will register the complaint and conduct an initial assessment of the 
complaint.  The Monitoring Officer will make themselves available for interview, 
should this be required by the Police or CPS.  The Police will consider and consult 
the Independent Person, if relevant.  

5. The Monitoring Officer will maintain regular contact with the SPOC and vice versa. 
The Monitoring Officer will report the matter confidentially to the Standards 
Committee Chair, Chief Executive and Leader.

Page 47



Printed on recycled paper

6. If the Police decide not to prosecute the matter, they will normally pass the 
relevant evidence to the Monitoring Officer so that consideration can be given to a 
Code of Conduct breach being pursued.  In the event that the Council decides to 
pursue a Code of Conduct breach, they will inform the Police of their decision.

7. Both the Monitoring Officer and the Police will endeavour to keep complainants 
regularly updated as to the progress of complaints.

Signed on behalf of Bath & North East Somerset Council: 

Dated

NB: A signed version is retained by Legal Services. 

Signed and dated by all parties as of 2018

Page 48



Printed on recycled paper

Appendix A

SPOC (Single point of contact) for Avon and Somerset Constabulary:  
Nikki White

Monitoring Officer for Bath & North East Somerset Council:  
Maria Lucas 
01225 39 5171 
Maria_lucas@bathnes.gov.uk

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8 MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF 18TH JANUARY 2018 - PUBLIC AND EXEMPT
	EXEMPT MINUTE

	9 REPORT ON THE ASSESSMENT OF COMPLAINTS
	Appendix case tracker

	10 WORKPLAN FOR THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE
	11 CHAIRMAN'S CIVIC HANDBOOK
	Appendix Civic Handbook

	12 PROTOCOL BETWEEN BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL AND AVON AND SOMERSET CONSTABULARY



